FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/24/2019 1:34 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/30/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98025-0 No. 79645-3-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BROOKS MANUFACTURING CO.

Appellant,

VS.

### NORTHWEST CLEAN AIR AGENCY

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter R. Dworkin, WSBA# 30394 Scot S. Swanson, WSBA# 32954 Belcher Swanson Law Firm, PLLC 900 Dupont Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 734-6390 pete@belcherswanson.com scot@belcherswanson.com Attorneys for Appellant

###

### A. Identity of Petitioner.

Petitioner Brooks Manufacturing Co. ("Brooks") was the appellant in the Court of Appeals as well as before the Superior Court, which affirmed a decision by the Pollution Control Hearings Board ("PCHB").

### **B.** Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision of September 16, 2019, which was ordered published on November 26, 2019, *Brooks Manufacturing. Co., v. Northwest Clean Air Agency*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_ (2019) (cited as "Slip Op." and attached as Appendix A). The Order Granting Motion to Publish is attached as Appendix B.

### C. Issues Presented for Review.

Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that:

- 1. the statutorily undefined term "emission control technology" in RCW 70.94.153 is an "umbrella term" with more than one meaning depending on where it appears in the statutory scheme, thereby subjecting Brooks to a Notice of Violation and Corrective Action Order?
- 2. the work performed on Brooks's baghouse fits within the statutorily undefined term "replace" in RCW 70.94.153, thereby subjecting Brooks to a Notice of Violation and Corrective Action Order?

### D. Statement of the Case.<sup>1</sup>

The underlying facts are described in detail in Petitioner's Opening Brief in the Court of Appeals. *See*, Appellant's Opening Brief, at 2-20 (Attached as Appendix C). This includes a detailed explanation of the wood-fired boiler and its exhaust system at issue here.

This is an appeal of a Notice of Violation and Corrective Action Order issued by the Respondent Northwest Clean Air Agency ("NWCAA") against Brooks. Brooks is in the business of engineering and manufacturing wood products for telephone poles, but not the poles themselves. (Slip Op. at 2). A large amount of wood by-product—sawdust and shavings—is generated in this process. (*Id.*) Brooks uses steam to heat dry-kilns which dry the lumber they use in manufacturing. That steam is generated by a boiler that burns the wood by-product. (*Id.*).

The wood-fired boiler and the emission control equipment attached to it are regulated by the NWCAA. One of those emission control devices is a "baghouse" – essentially, a large filter. (*Id.*). In 2008, and again in 2014, Brooks installed like-for-like replacement parts on its baghouse to

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  The record on appeal consists of the Certified Record from the PCHB and the Transcript of the two-day hearing before the PCHB. The Certified Record of the PCHB is paginated separately from the Clerk's Papers and is cited as (CR \_\_\_\_). The Transcript from the PCHB hearing is cited as (RP \_\_\_\_). The Clerk's Papers are cited as (CP \_\_\_\_) and Superior Court VRP as (Sup. Ct. RP \_\_\_\_).

repair corrosion caused by heat and moisture. (*Id.* at 3). Both times, the repair used exact replica parts manufactured to within 1/8 of an inch of the original. (RP 301-302). The 2014 parts were made of stainless steel instead of mild steel.

RCW 70.94.153 requires anyone proposing to "substantially alter or replace emission control technology" to submit a "Notice of Construction Application" to their local air agency. In 2014, the NWCAA cited Brooks for performing the 2014 work without filing a Notice of Construction Application. The issue in this case is whether the repairs Brooks performed fall within RCW 70.94.153. No appellate court has construed this statute.

1. The Baghouse. In 1989, Brooks converted its boiler, enabling it to burn not only natural gas, but wood shavings. (Slip Op. at 2). In doing so, Brooks re-designed the entire system, installing a cyclone and a baghouse, which both capture fine particulate matter emitted from the wood-fired boiler. (*Id.*). Maintenance of the baghouse takes place on a daily basis; millwrights check and record the pressure readings, the inlet temperature, and the air tank. (CR 905, FOF 13; RP 263-64). They also check the pulse jets (if operating correctly), the bottom hopper (ensure ash is coming out), and examine the ash (to confirm complete combustion in the boiler). They also observe the exhaust gas exiting the baghouse to

observe if any particulate is emitted. *Id.* Additional maintenance and system monitoring are performed on a monthly basis. (CR 905, FOF 13).

The entire boiler and exhaust system are completely shut down at least once a year for several weeks. (CR 905, FOF 13). The baghouse is opened and inspected in its entirety for corrosion (an ongoing concern). (CR 905, FOF 13). Bags are removed and inspected and, if need be, cleaned or replaced. The bags and cages are replaced every two to four years. *Id.* 

2. The 2008 and 2014 Work on the Baghouse. In 2007, Brooks observed that the baghouse was suffering from significant corrosion; rust was causing deterioration in the baghouse outer skin and the hopper. (CR 906, FOF 14). Brooks contacted Superior Systems, Inc. to evaluate the options for repairing the baghouse. (RP 269). Superior Systems has designed, installed, and manufactured baghouses since 1980. (CR 298-299).

Employees of Superior spent the better part of a Saturday crawling around the baghouse and measuring every component to within 1/8<sup>th</sup> of an inch.<sup>2</sup> (RP 301-302). Superior Systems ultimately submitted a written

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> FOF 19 outlines the detail and exact replica nature of the parts manufactured and installed by Superior Systems.

proposal to repair the baghouse. (CR 906, FOF 14). Superior performed the work in July 2008. (*Id.*).

The baghouse/boiler logbook that Brooks maintains pursuant to the 1989 Permit contains an entry that the boiler was shut down and a "New Ash Baghouse" was installed. (*Id.*; CR 930). Due to the corrosion, the walls and exterior skin of the baghouse were replaced. (RP 270). However, many parts were re-used, including the ladder/catwalk, the sprinkler system, the purge parts, the airlock, the magnehelic, the support structure, the receiver tank, the electronic controls, and all of the piping and inlet configuration. (RP 270-271). The NWCAA did not require a Notice of Construction Application for the 2008 work on the baghouse.

In 2013, Brooks again noticed that the baghouse was severely corroding. (CR 906, FOF 16). Brooks again contacted Superior Systems, who assisted in determining what parts were needed to repair the baghouse. (RP 273; RP 287). Superior Systems suggested that this time Brooks use stainless steel to combat corrosion. (RP 272-273).

Superior Systems used the exact same drawings from 2007 to create its 2013 job file. (RP 288). The goal of the 2013 job was to re-use as many of the existing parts as possible, to save on costs. (RP 287). Superior Systems performed the work in August 2014; the repair work took only

three days of Brooks's regularly scheduled annual two-week maintenance shutdown. (CR 907, FOF 17). Superior Systems testified "We didn't change anything that would affect the performance ... same bag[s], same cages, same cleaning cycle, same stand, everything bolted right back up to it. We just replaced the parts that needed to be replaced so that they could continue to operate the way it's supposed to." (RP 320).

3. Notice of Violation and Appeal. In November of 2014, NWCAA inspector Bob Uhrich conducted an annual inspection of the Brooks facility. (CR 908, FOF 20). Brooks's Technical Director told Mr. Uhrich that there had been a "like-for-like" replacement of parts on the baghouse. (*Id.*). Uhrich then observed the baghouse, noting that work had been done. (CR 909, FOF 21). He did not ask what specific parts were repaired or replaced. (RP 38-39; RP 229).

Uhrich did not determine whether Brooks had violated any regulations or laws. Instead, he filled out a form entitled "NWCAA Case Investigation for NSR Determination." (CR 909, FOF 22). He forwarded the form to Dan Mahar, the "new source review lead" at the NWCAA. (*Id.*). The information Mr. Mahar had was very limited. (CR 909, FOF 22).

Dan Mahar reviewed the one-page NSR Determination form. (CR 910, FOF 23). The form stated that Brooks had done a like-for-like parts

replacement, and the baghouse was the "same design and size, with the only difference being it was constructed of stainless steel." (*Id.*). From this limited information, Mahar concluded that Brooks "intended to replace or substantially alter emission control technology." (*Id.*).

Based on Mahar's determination, Uhrich prepared an enforcement report which was reviewed by Uhrich's supervisor, NWCAA Compliance Director and wife of Dan Mahar, Toby Mahar. (CR 910, FOF 24). Toby Mahar agreed with Dan Mahar's determination, because a "significant portion of the baghouse had been replaced." (*Id.*).

In December 2014, the NWCAA issued a Notice of Violation and Corrective Action Order requiring Brooks to submit a Notice of Construction Application. (CR 911, FOF 25). Brooks appealed that order to the PCHB, and after a two-day evidentiary hearing in January 2016, the PCHB issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order Affirming the NWCAA's actions. (CR 900-924).

Brooks appealed the PCHB's order to the Thurston County Superior Court. (CP 6-11). The Superior Court affirmed the PCHB on October 12, 2017. (CP 163-164). Brooks then appealed to the Court of Appeals, (CP 165-167)<sup>3</sup> which affirmed the Superior Court. This Petition now follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This case was transferred from Division II to Division I on February 21, 2019.

4. **No Increased Emissions.** The work on the baghouse did not affect its performance. In August 2015, Emission Technologies, Inc. performed a test for particulate matter on the baghouse, demonstrating that the baghouse exhaust met the existing permit standards/limitations for emissions of particulate. (FOF 26; CR 912).

### E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted.

#### 1. Standard of Review.

Petitioner seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RCW 70.94.153 is a critical provision of Washington's Clean Air Act dictating when any regional air agency can invoke permit review. No Washington appellate court has ever construed this statute. The Court of Appeals' analysis is incorrect, incomplete, and could have far-reaching effects on regulated industry in the State. Review should be granted.

This appeal specifically raises errors under RCW 34.05.570(3)(d) "The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law" and RCW 34.05.570(3)(e) "The order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in a light of the whole record before the court, which includes the agency record for judicial review..." The substantive standards of

review for these alleged errors were appropriately outlined by the Court of Appeals in its published opinion. (Slip Op. at 4-5).

# 2. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Held that the Brooks Baghouse was "Emission Control Technology."

If the baghouse is not deemed "Emission Control Technology," then a Notice of Construction Application was not required. RCW 70.94.153 states in pertinent part:

"Any person proposing to replace or substantially alter the emission control technology installed on an existing stationary source emission unit shall file a notice of construction application with the jurisdictional permitting authority."

The terms "replace," "substantially alter," and "emission control technology" are not defined. (CR 915, COL 3). Both the Department of Ecology ("DOE") and the NWCAA adopted regulations which repeat the above statutory language, and then supplement it with the following:

"Replacement or substantial alteration of control technology does not include routine maintenance, repair, or similar parts replacement." (CR 915-916, COL 4-5).

Neither the DOE's or NWCAA's regulations define the terms "replace," "substantially alter," "emission control technology," "routine," "maintenance," "repair," or "similar parts replacement." (CR 915-916, COL 4-5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> WAC 173-400-114; NWCAA Reg. 300.13

This Court has routinely held that "in the absence of a statutory definition, we will give the term its plain and ordinary meaning ascertained from a standard dictionary." *Fraternal Order of Eagles, Tenino Aerie No.* 564 v. Grand Aerie of Fraternal Order of Eagles, 148 Wn.2d 224, 239, 59 P.3d 655 (2002); accord, State v. Sullivan, 143 Wn.2d 162, 175, 19 P.3d 1012 (2001) (citations omitted). "Technology" is defined in the dictionary as:

- 1. The science or study of the practical or industrial arts, applied sciences, etc.
- 2. The terms used in a science, etc.; technical terminology;
- 3. Applied science;
- 4. A method, process, etc. for handling a specific technical problem;
- 5. The system by which a society provides its members with those things needed or desired.<sup>5</sup>

The dictionary definition of technology does not include specific equipment, and it certainly does not support the definition adopted by the NWCAA, the PCHB, and the Court of Appeals. Rather, the dictionary definition of "technology" is in accord with Brooks's understanding of the word; "emission control technology" is a more abstract term, referring to the application of science, a method, study, or a process.

The Court of Appeals rejected this plain meaning and instead adopted a chameleon-like definition which changes based on where and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Webster's New World Collegiate Dictionary, Fourth Edition.

how the term is used in the statute. "[T]he legislature used "emission control technology" as "an umbrella term that includes the equipment and devices used for emission control and the more abstract concept of the applied science upon which the equipment and devices are based." (Slip Op. at 10).

The Court of Appeals deviated from the plain meaning and used a definition concocted by the NWCAA, because it believed the plain meaning was not supported by "the text of RCW 70.94.153 and the quoted purpose of the [Clean Air] Act supported by the PCHB's interpretation." In explaining this reasoning, the Court first noted that RCW 70.94.153 refers to "emission control technology" as being "installed on an existing stationary source emission unit." (Slip Op. at 8). The Court reasoned that the legislature's use of the word "installed" "makes it clear that it considered 'emission control technology' to include tangible objects that one could attach to a stationary emission unit." (Slip Op. at 8-9). The Court then stated (incorrectly) that Brooks had failed to address how "one could attach "science, a method, study, or a process" to an existing stationary emission unit" (Slip Op. at 10) when that very issue had been addressed in its briefing. (See, Reply Brief of Appellant at pg. 8-9).

The Court of Appeals also held that Brooks's "narrow abstract" meaning of "emission control technology" was "nonsensical" and failed to harmonize the term as it is used throughout the statutory scheme. (Slip Op. at 9-10). As an issue of first impression, the Court of Appeals' analysis is fatally flawed and must be reversed, because it has the potential to skew all future legal authority on this issue.

The Court of Appeals' analysis is flawed for three distinct reasons. First, the terms "control technology" and "control equipment" both appear in the same sentence within RCW 70.94.153:

Any person proposing to replace or substantially alter the **emission control technology** installed on an existing stationary source emission unit shall file a notice of construction application with the jurisdictional permitting authority. For projects not otherwise reviewable under RCW 70.94.152, the permitting authority may (1) require that the owner or operator employ **reasonably available control technology** for the affected emission unit and (2) may prescribe reasonable operation and maintenance conditions for the **control equipment**. (Emphasis Added).

Statutes are to be read together, wherever possible, to achieve a 'harmonious total statutory scheme... which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes." *Washington State Dept. of Revenue v. Federal Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 190 Wn. App. 150, 157-58, 359 P.3d 913 (2015) (cited in the Slip Op. at pg 9). The Court of Appeals' definition of "control technology" encompasses "control equipment." Under this rationale, the phrase "control equipment"

is afforded no meaning. This alone is contrary to how statutes should be construed. *Id.*, *citing*, *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) ("We must construe statutes such that all of the language is given effect.").

Second, use of the word "installed" in RCW 70.94.153 is actually harmonious with the plain and ordinary meaning of "control technology." This is particularly so when viewed in the context of all the other instances where the phrase "control technology" is used.<sup>6</sup> Under the plain meaning of the word "technology," "a" baghouse would be "control technology" which would be installed by installation of "the" baghouse to an exhaust system. "Control technology" can be "installed" in other real-world situations when defined as a process, method, or technique. For example—anti-lock brakes. The technology of anti-lock brakes and the anti-lock brake system are installed when an ABS system is placed in a car. The theory of "an" ABS system is the "control technology." But, "the" ABS system—the actual equipment installed in the car—is "control device." As a result, the dictionary definition of the term "technology" cannot be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The undefined phrase "control technology" appears throughout the Clean Air Act: RCW 70.94.030(6) (Definition of "Best Available Control Technology"); RCW 70.94.030(20) (Definition of "Reasonably Available Control Technology").

summarily discarded simply because the word "installed" appears in the statute.

Third, throughout the Clean Air Act, the phrase "control technology" is used in a manner wholly consistent with the plain and ordinary meaning that Brooks applies. The PCHB even acknowledged that the legislature used the term "technology" in a manner consistent with Brooks's position: "There are also times, however, when emission control technology is used in the Washington Clean Air Act in a manner more similar to the dictionary definition advocated by Brooks." (CR 921, COL 16). In fact, the dictionary definition of "technology" works in all other instances where the term appears.

In RCW 70.94.030(6), "Best available control technology" (BACT) is defined as "an emission limitation...that the permitting authority...determines is achievable... through application of production processes and available methods, systems, and techniques..."

In RCW 70.94.030(20), "Reasonably available control technology" (RACT) "means the lowest emission limit that a particular source . . . is capable of meeting by the application of control technology that is reasonably available considering technological and economic feasibility..."

In RCW 70.94.030(6), "Best available retrofit technology" (BART) is defined as "an emission limitation based on the degree of reduction achievable through the application of the best system of continuous emission reduction for each pollutant that is emitted by an existing stationary facility. The emission limitation must be established...taking into consideration the technology available..."

The term "emission control technology" is unambiguous under its plain and ordinary meaning. That plain and ordinary meaning can be harmonized with all other instances of where the term appears in the Clean Air Act. The Court of Appeals erred when it held otherwise.

# 3. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Held that the Brooks Baghouse was "Replaced."

Because the Court of Appeals held that the baghouse constituted "emission control technology," it was also required to analyze whether Brooks had "replaced" it.<sup>7</sup> The Court acknowledged that both Brooks and the NWCAA proposed reasonable definitions for the undefined term "replace" and held that it was thus ambiguous. (Slip Op. at 13). Brooks advocates a definition that means the entire subject must be replaced—not

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  The NWCAA conceded that Brooks did not "substantially alter" emission control technology. (Slip Op. at 13).

just parts of it.<sup>8</sup> The Court of Appeals adopted a definition that has no boundaries, giving zero guidance to those regulated by the Clean Air Act.

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