FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/23/2020 8:57 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98025-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BROOKS MANUFACTURING CO.

Appellant,

VS.

NORTHWEST CLEAN AIR AGENCY

Respondent.

NORTHWEST CLEAN AIR AGENCY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Svend A. Brandt-Erichsen, WSBA #23923 Cheerful Catunao, WSBA #53731 Nossaman LLP 719 Second Avenue, Suite 1200 Seattle, WA 98104 sbrandterichsen@nossaman.com ccatunao@nossaman.com

Attorneys for Respondent Northwest Clean Air Agency

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

VI. ARGUMENT

Petitions for review are governed by the four considerations under RAP 13.4(b). Brooks argues that their Petition for Review (Petition) meets a single consideration: that the Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4); Petition at 8. Brooks fails to satisfy this criteria.

A. Washington Clean Air Act Background and RCW 70.94.153 Requirements

The legislature created the Washington Clean Air Act (Act), ch. 70.94 RCW, in 1967. *Ass'n of Washington Bus. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 95885-8, ____ Wn.2d ____, 2020 WL 240321, at *1 (Wn. Jan. 16, 2020) (citing Laws of 1967, ch. 238). Recognizing air pollution as "the most serious environmental threat in Washington state," the legislature significantly revised the Act in 1991 to better "preserve, protect, and enhance the air quality for current and future generations." *Id.* (citing LAWS OF 1991, ch

199, §§ 101, 102; RCW 70.94.011). The legislature explicitly declared that "[i]mproving air quality is a matter of statewide concern and is in the public interest." LAWS OF 1991, ch. 199, § 102; RCW 70.94.011.

To serve these ends, RCW 70.94.153 provides that "any person proposing to replace ... the emission control technology installed on an existing stationary source emission unit *shall* file a notice of construction application with the jurisdictional permitting authority." (emphasis added). This provision imposes an obligation on the emissions source to apply to the permitting authority¹ and obtain its approval before replacing the controls on an existing emission unit. It also sets the parameters for the permitting authority's review.

The permitting authority must first review the application for completeness. RCW 70.94.153. Thereafter, the authority must issue an order that either approves the applicant's proposal, or proposes a "reasonably available control technology" (RACT) determination for the proposed project. *Id.*; *see also* RCW 70.94.141(3). RACT is defined as: "[T]he lowest emission limit that a particular source or source category is capable of meeting by the application of control technology that is

¹ "Authority" is defined as "any air pollution control agency whose jurisdictional boundaries are coextensive with the boundaries of one or more counties." RCW 70.94.030(5).

reasonable available considering technological and economic feasibility." RCW 70.94.030(20) (*see* appendix).

When the permitting authority opts to propose a RACT determination, that means the agency has the opportunity to decide—before the applicant makes a significant investment in replacing or substantially altering its existing control equipment—whether the money would be better spent on a new control method or refinements to the existing controls that can achieve lower emissions. *See* RCW 70.94.154(5) (requiring authority to utilize factors in RCW 70.94.030, and other relevant factors in determining RACT). In this way, the agency is authorized to (1) require RACT for the affected emission unit so as to keep up with the evolution of emission controls and (2) prescribe reasonable operation and maintenance conditions for the control equipment. RCW 70.94.153.

To summarize, RCW 70.94.153 makes it is unlawful [1] "to replace or substantially alter the [2] emission control technology installed on an existing stationary source emission unit" unless the applicant complies with two basic procedural requirements under RCW 70.94.153: first, file a complete "notice of construction application" for the permitting authority's review and approval, and second receive proper authorization to commence the project. RCW 70.94.153. This process of agency review, and employing RACT determinations when necessary, helps protect air quality

from "sources [that] may contribute" to air emissions. *See* RCW 70.94.011, .153.

B. Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) should be denied because Brooks fails to identify an issue of substantial public interest that frequently recurs

For nearly three decades, RCW 70.94.153 has imposed procedural requirements on permittees, and the local air agencies. LAWS OF 1991, ch. 199, § 303; RCW 70.94.153. Since its enactment, there have been no other cases or disputes, other than the one at hand, necessitating judicial interpretation of the terms "technology" and "replace." The statute has been in place and routinely applied by the local air authorities and permittees for decades.

After receiving a notice of violation and corrective order regarding its 2014 work on the baghouse, and after the corrective action order was affirmed by the PCHB the Thurston County Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals, Brooks now asserts that the repeated rejection of its interpretation of RCW 70.94.153 raises an issue of substantial public interest. Yet, Brooks points to no instance where any other permittee has tried to raise the same issue. Indeed, the Court of Appeals Division I is the first appellate court to address the novel reading of RCW 70.94.153 offered by Brooks. The Court of Appeals' decision analyzed a factual issue in deciding that "RCW 70.94.153 obligated Brooks to file a notice of

construction." Slip Op. at 16. The Court of Appeals, like the PCHB, and the Thurston County Superior Court, adopts a common sense interpretation RCW 70.94.153 that is likewise consistent with the Act's purpose. Given the absence of similar issues pending before Washington courts and administrative boards, the disputed issues are not of recurring importance.

Instead of providing "direct and concise" reasons for review under the substantial public interest criteria, Brooks resorts to claiming that the Court's analysis "could have far-reaching effects on regulated industry in the State." Petition at 8; See RAP 13.4(c)(7). Brooks' claim is conclusory. In an attempt to meet the standard, Brooks appears to make three primary assertions. First, Brooks asserts that the Court of Appeals erroneously analyzed the term "technology," and could therefore "skew all legal authority on this issue." Petition at 12. Second, Brooks asserts that the Court of Appeals adopted an erroneous definition for the term "replace." Petition at 16. Third, Brooks claims that the Court of Appeals failed to provide guidance for the term "replace," and as a consequence grants the air agency "unfettered" permitting discretion. Id. As discussed below, Brooks' arguments fail to meet the standard for review by this Court.

C. The Court of Appeals properly held that Brooks' baghouse was "emission control technology" and therefore did not result in the adoption of an erroneous rule of law

Brooks failed to comply with RCW 70.94.153; Brooks' attempt to render the statute inapplicable based on its novel interpretation of "technology" does not warrant Supreme Court review. *See* Slip Op. at 3. Brooks urges acceptance of review that their offered dictionary interpretation of "technology" is the only correct one—the same interpretation rejected by the PCHB, the Thurston County Superior Court, as well as the Court of Appeals. Petition at 10; *See* Slip Op. at 1-2.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Brooks' baghouse is an "emission control technology" subject to the requirements under RCW 70.94.153. Slip Op. at 10. In reaching its decision, the Court of Appeals evaluated "technology" through fundamental principles of statutory interpretation. Slip Op. at 5. Specifically, the Court's analysis gives effect to the legislature's intent,² and ascertains the plain language of the RCW 70.94.153 by "considering the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the

² Contrary to the fundamental objective to carry out the legislature's intent, Brooks' analysis fails to acknowledge, let alone effectuate the Act's declared purpose to protect the public interest—improving air quality—through coordinated statewide air quality permit programs. RCW 70.94.011; Petition at 11.

statutory scheme as a whole." Slip Op. at 5 (citing *TracFone Wireless, Inc.* v. *Dep't of Revenue*, 170 Wn.2d 273, 281 (2010); *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 192 (2013)). Consistent with the principles of statutory interpretation, the Court adopted a broad definition for "technology"—a definition that harmonizes the statute's use of the term to include both tangible physical equipment and concepts of applied science. Slip Op. at 8-9.

The Petition provides no RAP 13.4(b)(4) basis for review of that holding. Instead, Brooks claims that the Court's analysis has the potential to "skew all" future legal authority on this issue. Petition at 12. But rather than attempt to discuss how the Court's analysis can possibly impact "all" future analogous issues, if any, Brooks turns to repeating its appellate arguments for narrow interpretation of "technology". Petition at 12.

Brooks' return to the merits of their argument also fails to justify review. Brooks argued that "technology" should only mean an "abstract" concept that "does not include tangible objects." Slip Op. at 8. The Court of Appeals explained that the abstract narrow interpretation would frustrate the Act's express purpose "to enhance the air quality for current and future generations." Slip Op. at 10. It also is inconsistent with the plain language of RCW 70.94.153. *Id.* at 8-9.

As is clear from Brooks' Petition, Brooks argues for a narrow reading of "technology" so as to avoid compliance with the Act's

application requirements. Petition at 8. It becomes more evident when Brooks' fails to reconcile how its dictionary definition is consistent with the Act's declared purpose to protect the public interest—improving air quality—through coordinated statewide air quality permit programs. RCW 70.94.011.

In any event, the Petition also shows that Brooks fails to recognize that the phrase "control technology" is used in different ways in different parts of the Act. The Petition recites the Act's three technology-based emissions standards: "Best available control technology" (BACT), "Reasonably available control technology" (RACT), and "Best available retrofit technology" (BART), Pet. at 14-15, as if they refer to the same thing as "emission control technology" under RCW 70.94.153. But BACT, RACT, and BART all describe the criteria for emission limits that are derived from the expected control efficiency of a type or category of devices or equipment, work practices, and design characteristics. See RCW 70.94.030(6), (7), (20). Once these concepts are applied to determine the emission limit for a particular source, the concept translates to a tangible object: "the" baghouse that is used to control emissions from a specific piece of equipment. See RCW 70.94.153 ("emission control technology installed on an existing stationary source") (emphasis added); Slip Op. at 9-10. The use of different prefaces to the term "control technology" in different places in the Act creates a distinction between concepts like what is "reasonably available" and concrete applications like the "emission control technology" installed on an individual emission unit. Brooks' attempt to conflate these different uses of the term neither satisfies the appropriate standard of review nor shows the Court of Appeals adopted an erroneous interpretation of "technology."

Even setting aside those substantive problems, Brooks' additional claims are unhelpful on review. Brooks wrongly asserts that "no appellate court has ever construed [RCW 70.94.153]." Pet. at 3. That allegation ignores the opinion of the Court of Appeals that is the subject of this Petition, an opinion that will now be published in response to Brooks' request, establishing the durable precedent that Brooks wrongly claims is missing.

Brooks presents this Court with a series of groundless arguments that largely focuses on Brooks' unsuccessful claim on the merits. Brooks' arguments are creative to a degree but do not warrant the Supreme Court's attention. Put simply, it is not the subject of significant statewide importance.

D. The Court of Appeals Properly Held that Brooks' Baghouse was "Replaced"

The Court of Appeals made a straightforward decision on a fact-specific and nonrecurring issue by applying the Act to the circumstances of this case. The Court properly held the substantial evidence supports that Brooks "replaced" its emission control technology, and was therefore obligated to file a notice of construction under RCW 70.94.153. Slip Op. at 16.

In an effort to create controversy where none exists, Brooks selectively quotes portions of the Act, the Court's decision, and factual record. Petition at 16-17, 19. Brooks' select quotes, when read in isolation, imply that the issue of "replace" is of substantial interest because (1) the court allegedly gave no guidance on the definition; and (2) the court's interpretation now grants "unfettered discretion" to the agency regarding the permitting process under RCW 70.94.153. Petition at 16. Neither provides a basis for review.

First, the decision does provide guidance³ to regulated sources and authorities on the term "replace". The Court expressly defines "replace" to

³ The issue of how industry may achieve compliance pursuant to RCW 70.94.153 was not before the court of appeals, and therefore was not fully briefed and argued. The issue is certainly not essential to the outcome regarding replacement under the substantial evidence standard.

mean "to place again: restore to a former place, position, or condition." Slip Op. at 13-14 (citing Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1925 (2002)). The decision is clear that the term "replace" is to be given its plain dictionary meaning. Slip Op. at 15. Furthermore, Brooks' desire for guidance from the court was satisfied when the Court of Appeals granted Brooks' motion to publish its decision.

Without any citation to authority, Brooks argues that the term "replace" should be defined as "the entire subject must be replaced—not just parts of it." Pet. at 15-16. Brooks fails to explain how such a definition would advance the Act's purpose. *Id.* at 17, 20. Nor does Brooks identify a single source of authority for its definition. Pet. at 15-16.

Assuming Brooks' interpretation as correct would lead to absurd results. Here, the Court of Appeals found substantial evidence in the record that Brooks had replaced 90 percent of its baghouse. Slip Op. at 11-12. Brooks does not seek review of that conclusion, instead arguing that, even though it is true, that is not enough to trigger review under RCW 70.94.153.

Under the definition of "replace" proffered by Brooks, it would not only evade review of the rebuilding of its baghouse in 2014, but could continue to manipulate future work at its facility in such a manner that it would never be subject to review. An emission unit would not be required to improve its performance, even if better controls become available, and

even though the facility spends substantial amounts to keep its original emission controls functioning. *See* Petition at 15. Brooks' interpretation would enable a facility to avoid RCW 70.94.153 requirements, and ultimately RACT determinations, so long as the facility replaces "just parts of [the facility]". That is the opposite of what RCW 70.94.153 seeks to achieve.

Second, Brooks' wrongly assumes the decision gives air agencies "unfettered discretion" to decide when an emission control technology is "replaced." Pet. at 16. The dictionary definition of "replace" adopted by the Court of Appeals does not result as Brooks claims – in every change to emission controls triggering the statute because, as Brooks acknowledges absent citation to the rules, longstanding regulations adopted by the Department of Ecology and NWCAA exempt routine work from review: "Replacement or substantial alteration of control technology does not include routine maintenance, repair or similar parts replacement." WAC 173-400-114; NWCAA Regulation 300.13. Brooks argued below that the work conducted on its baghouse was "routine," but having lost that argument repeatedly it chose not to advance it again to this Court.

Finally, defining "replace" as "restore to a former place, position, or condition," Slip Op. at 14, does not – as Brooks asserts – render meaningless

the term "substantially alter." Pet. at 17. That term applies when the work is not intended to restore the controls to their former condition.

The remainder of the Petition's argument regarding the meaning of "replace" largely recites the factual record and a fact-bound and nonprecedential judgment. Brooks fails to show how the fact-bound nature of the decision ultimately addresses an issue of statewide significance. As a consequence, the issues are insignificant for review.

VII. CONCLUSION

The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve a matter of substantial interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Accordingly, the Northwest Clean Air Agency respectfully request the Supreme Court to deny the petition.